SCHOOL READINESS: PARENT-CHILD ACTIVITIES, TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS,

AND STUDENTS' SKILLS

By

KATHLEEN M. MOORE

Bachelor of Arts/Science in Elementary Education

Oral Roberts University

Tulsa, Oklahoma

2002

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 2008

SCHOOL READINESS: PARENT-CHILD ACTIVITIES,

TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS,

AND STUDENTS' SKILLS

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Amy Halliburton Thesis Adviser

Dr. Amanda Morris

Dr. Linda Sheeran

Dr. A. Gordon Emslie Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many individuals need to be recognized and thanked for their support and encouragement through the completion of this thesis project. Special thanks are due to Dr. Amy Halliburton who has been an inspiration and mentor throughout my graduate studies and this project. Without her professional guidance, dedication, support, and encouragement, this thesis would have been impossible to do. Her insight has been invaluable to my graduate studies and this thesis project. I would also like to thank the other members of my graduate committee, Dr. Sheeran and Dr. Morris, for their commitment and interest in this project. They have provided great direction and advice. Also special thanks to Dr. Merten, who has provided statistical guidance and expertise.

I would also like to thank the Smart Start organization for their interest and dedication to children in their community. Their efforts to bring the community, schools, and families together for the good of children are generous. Special thanks to the teachers and parents who also selflessly participated in this study.

Last but not least, thanks to my mother and father in-law and Jennifer Cunningham who have cared for my children throughout my graduate studies. Thanks to my mother and father who have always believed and encouraged me to follow my dreams and goals. And to my husband, who has encouraged and supported me every step of the way, his sacrifice and love has been amazing.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
Definitions	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose of the Study	3
Research Questions	4
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	
Theoretical Framework	5
School Readiness History	6
The Child	7
The Parent	11
The Teacher	16
Parents and Teachers	18

III. METHODOLOGY

Participants	20
Procedures	24
Instruments	
Data Analyses	25

IV. RESULTS

Teacher Report of Importance of Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	27
Teacher Report of Students' Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	30
Parent Report of Activities	34
Relationships between Parent Report and Teacher Report	38
refutionships over own i alone report and i outport	

V. DISCUSSION

Teacher Report of Importance of Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	42
Teacher Report of Students' Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	43
Parent Report of Activities	43
Relationships between Parent Report and Teacher Report	44
Limitations	47
Implications	47
Future Research Directions	48
Conclusion	49
REFERENCES	51
APPENDICES	57
Appendix A: School Readiness Questionnaire: Parents	57
Appendix B: School Readiness Questionnaire: Teachers	62

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Parent Responses by Grade Level	21
2. Child Care Settings Prior to School Entry	21
3. Family Demographics	22
4. Parent Report of Overall Health of Child	22
5. Teacher Demographic Information	23
6. Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Teacher Ratings of Importance of Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	28
7. Frequencies for Teacher Ratings of Importance of Children's Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	29
8. Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Teacher Ratings of Children's Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	31
9. Frequencies for Teacher Ratings of Children's Skills, Abilities, and Experiences	32
10. Chi-square Analysis for Percent of Teachers Reporting Majority of Children Demonstrate Social Skills	33
11. Chi-sq uare Analysis for Percent of Teachers Reporting Majority of Children Demonstrate Motor Skills	33
12. Chi-square Analysis for Percent of Teachers Reporting Majority of Children Care for Self	33
13. Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Parent Ratings of Weekly Activities	35
14. Frequencies for Parent Ratings of Frequency of Weekly Activities	35

15.	Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Parent Ratings of Monthly Activities	.36
16.	Frequencies for Parent Ratings of Frequency of Monthly Activities	.36
17.	Factor Analysis of School Readiness Activities	.37
18.	Alpha Coefficients for School Readiness Activity Factors	.37
19.	One-way Analysis of Variance Summary for Parent Report of Reading with Their Child: Differences by Grade Level	.39
20.	One-way Analysis of Variance Summary for Parent Report of Singing with Their Child: Differences by Grade Level	.39
21.	One-way Analysis of Variance Summary for Parent Report of Building things with Their Child: Differences by Grade Level	.39
22.	Logistic Regression Predicting Sitting Still	.41
23.	Logistic Regression Predicting Cares for Self	.41
24.	Logistic Regression Predicting Developmental Maturity	.41

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Success By 6® (now known as Smart Start) is an organization that acts as a catalyst for community efforts to ensure children arrive at school healthy, eager to learn, and ready to succeed. In the spring of 2000, one Success By 6® community in Oklahoma requested a community needs and resource assessment for strategic planning. Since then the organization has grown, and in 2005 requested an updated assessment. The new data was then used to make decisions about the next steps for the organization.

The data from the research conducted in 2005 includes information about families, children, teachers, childcare, and community resources. Specifically, information collected from the families included family demographics, child care settings prior to school entry, child health history, family and children's weekly and monthly activities, and involvement and helpfulness of parenting programs. A final open-ended question asked the parents if they could be a part of a parenting support group, what they would hope to gain from participation and what questions would they ask. The information gathered from teachers included teacher demographics, perceptions of children's skills, abilities, and experiences, and teachers' ratings of importance of skills, abilities, and experiences needed for developmental success. Other open-ended questions were also collected from teachers regarding the three most important needs of children 0-6 years of age, changes in needs, community agencies that meet needs, and the biggest unmet needs in their community.

The teacher and family demographics, parent-child activities, teachers' perceptions of student readiness and the teachers' ratings of skills, abilities and experiences needed for developmental success may help Smart Start and others develop a common understanding of school readiness as it relates to this sample. A common understanding and definition of school readiness between parents, teachers and community efforts is the starting point for reaching the first National Educational Goal, having children starting school ready to learn (National Education Goals Panel, 1991). The present study will utilize the data to further explore the relationship between school readiness, parent-child activities reported and teachers' ratings and reports of school readiness.

Definitions

School readiness is not an easy concept to define. The definition of school readiness varies among parents, teachers, schools and communities, which influences a child's ability to transition to school. Kagan, Moore, and Bredekamp (1995) report for the National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) that because children's performance is multidimensional and varied, it may be misleading to define readiness. As well, school readiness is socially constructed as it relates to the information available to parents, relationships between parents and schools, and a child's experiences (Graue, 1992).

For the purpose of this study, school readiness will be defined as skills needed for developmental success, which contributes to a child's ability to adjust to the social, emotional, and academic demands of beginning school. This study will further explore the activities parents and children engage in as it relates to preparing their child for

school. The study will also use teacher report of school readiness and ratings of skills needed for school readiness to further explore developmental success as it relates to the teachers' perceptions.

Problem Statement

Although there is a wealth of research on school readiness (Carlton & Winsler, 1999; Graue, 1992; Meisels, 1999; Pianta, 1997), there is little current research on relations among parent-child activities and school readiness. The present study would provide much-needed research documenting the relationship between activities parents engage in with their children and how that relates to teachers' report of the skills, abilities and experiences that the majority of the students demonstrate in their classrooms. It will further relate the parent report of activities, the teachers' report of children's actual skills, abilities and experiences with teachers' perceptions of skills, abilities, and experiences believed necessary for developmental success. This study could potentially guide further community efforts in aiding children to arrive at school healthy, eager to learn, and ready to succeed as well as provide schools with information to help them become ready for students.

Purpose of the Study

The present study would provide much-needed research documenting parent report of the type of parent-child activities they engage in as it relates to teachers' perceptions of skills, abilities, and experiences necessary for developmental success and teacher report of skills, abilities, and experiences that the majority of the students demonstrate in their class. Little is known regarding the relationship between these variables. Further, the study will explore the relationship of the *frequency* and *type* of

parent-child activities as they relate to teachers' perceptions of readiness for developmental success and teacher report of the students' skills, abilities, and experiences. This study could provide important information to local teachers and community efforts regarding school readiness recommendations and practices. As well, the information gained could provide parents with the specific skills teachers' perceive important for school readiness, further guiding their school readiness activities at home.

Research Questions

- What skills, abilities and experiences do teachers report are important for children's developmental success? Due to the exploratory nature of the question, no hypotheses were generated.
- What skills, abilities and experiences do teachers report children demonstrate? Due to the exploratory nature of the question, no hypotheses were generated.
- What school readiness activities do parents report that their children participate in? Due to the exploratory nature of the question, no hypotheses were generated.
- What is the relationship between parent report of *type of activities* and teacher report of children's skills and abilities? It is hypothesized that parents who report reading with their child, helping their child do chores, and build things with their child will have higher teacher report of children's skills and abilities.
- What is the relationship between parent report of *frequency of activities* and teacher report of children's skills and abilities? It is hypothesized that parents who report engaging in school readiness activities more frequently will have higher teacher report of children's skills and abilities.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Theoretical Framework

Bronfenbrenner's (1986) ecological systems theory encompasses the multiple groups of environmental factors such as families, schools, and communities that influence child development. In ecological systems theory, a "child develops within a complex system of relationships affected by various levels of the surrounding environment" (Berk, 2006, p.26). This theory is an organization of the environmental factors and relationships impacting child development.

In the theoretical model, the child is in the center of layers of systems. The relationship a child has with school, family, and the neighborhood is described as the *microsystem* (Bronfenbrenner, 1986). The connection between the different components of the microsystem is called the *mesosystem*. An example of the mesosystem could be parent-teacher interactions. Further, the social settings that do not include the child but affect the child, such as the community, parents' workplace, or extended family, is called the *exosystem*. Customs, values, and laws are examples of the *macrosystem* that affect activities within the layers of the systems.

This theory demonstrates the various dynamic influences on a child's development. All of the indirect and direct influences of the ecological systems theory impact a child's readiness for beginning education. While educational laws, policymakers, and national educational values indirectly impact a child's development via the macrosystem, the expectations, beliefs, and practices of parents and teachers directly influence children's school readiness via the microsystem and mesosystem. The multiple influential components of ecological systems theory, specifically school and family, provide the theoretical foundation for the present study.

School Readiness History

The history of the phrase "school readiness" is quite elaborate. During the 1980's, attention had been given to early childhood achievement and experiences (Raudenbush & Bryk, 1986; Swick & Lovingood, 1981; Willer & Bredekamp, 1990). Then, in 1983, *A Nation at Risk* (National Commission on Excellence in Education, 1983) promoted the need to develop more challenging school curricula and raise standards in education. The unintentional domino effect impacted the academic demands for school entrance and placement.

In 1991, an educational summit that included 51 governors met, giving rise to the National Educational Goals Panel. As a result, a renewed federal commitment for improving educational achievement and an increased commitment to education as a whole developed. The six National Education Goals were established, becoming known as Goals 2000. This was later expanded by Congress to eight goals. The first of the eight goals stated, "All children in America will start school ready to learn" (National Education Goals Panel, 1995).

The "readiness goal," as it has become known, has fueled the flame of much debate and study. A great deal of empirical research on school readiness is available (Graue, 1992; Kim, Murdock, & Choi, 2005; Mashburn & Henry, 2004; Piotrkowski, Botsko & Matthews, 2001). School readiness has become a catchphrase familiar to

educators, school administrators, and young families. Furthermore, defining "readiness" has become problematic. With diverse understanding, experiences, and definitions of school readiness, confusion has become the norm. Definitions and practices of school readiness tend to differ among schools, teachers, parents, and communities. As parents and schools come together for the common good of children during the critical transition into formal schooling, it is important that congruent ideas and practices of school readiness are created.

Developing a definition has not been easy. The National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC) holds the position that "child performance is multidimensional and varied; therefore it would be misleading and dangerous to define readiness" (Kagan et al., 1995, p.6). Graue (1992) concludes that readiness is socially constructed as well as a relative entity dependent on information available to parents, relationships between parents and schools, and child experiences. Further, Graue rejects the notion of children needing to be ready for school; rather, Graue advocates the idea that schools need to be ready for children.

The Child

Age has long-been the predominant defining factor for school readiness. Most states deem children eligible for kindergarten if they are five years old by a cutoff date in early fall (Saluja, Scott-Little, & Clifford, 2000). Age is a universal characteristic, but each child is unique in gender, family composition, experiences, and temperament. Common factors that tend to influence a child's experiences in being ready for school include: previous preschool experience, social skills, intelligence, general health and

well-being, gender, race/ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. Each of these factors and their relationship to school readiness will be described in more detail.

Preschool Experience

Previous school experience has been associated with school readiness. Many preschool programs, such as Head Start, have been formed to help children become ready for school. The preschool experience is meant to enrich a child's family and home experiences. Early education has been found to help reduce achievement gaps in school readiness (Perez-Johnson & Maynard, 2007). Dependent on preschool curriculum, Lunenburg (2000) asserts early childhood educational experiences bridge the readiness transition into kindergarten. In a study on the effects of universal Pre-K on cognitive development in Oklahoma, Gormley, Gayer, Phillips and Dawson (2005) researched the overall effect of Pre-K for children of varying race, ethnicity and income. They found statistically significant positive effects of preschool attendance on Hispanic, Black, White, and Native American children's performance on cognitive tests of pre-reading skills, reading skills, pre-writing skills, spelling skills, and math reasoning and problemsolving abilities. These findings held across all income brackets. Generally, children who attend a preschool program prior to kindergarten tend to adjust and have more readiness skills than their peers who have not attended a preschool program.

Social Skills

It is beneficial for young children to develop social skills including prosocial behavior, following instructions, age-appropriate communication, getting along with peers and adults, and independence in order to experience early school success. Pianta and Stuhlman (2004) explored the teacher-child relationship between teachers and their

preschool, kindergarten and first grade students. They found that teachers' report of higher conflict was associated with lower social skills and closer relationships were associated with higher social competence. Mashburn and Henry (2004) found that socialemotional development is likely a fundamental characteristic for a child's overall success in school. Studies also find that negative behaviors such as disruptive, disorganized, disturbing, inattentive, uncooperative, or off task behaviors are noted as the most obvious predictor of failure prone-students (Johnson-Fedoruk, 1991). It may seem that social skills enhance teachers' and parents' perceptions of school readiness (McBryde, Ziviani, & Cuskelly, 2004). Contrary to these findings, a longitudinal study linking school readiness and later achievement found behavior was an insignificant predictor of later achievement (Duncan et al., 2007). Social skills tend to be beneficial for school readiness, but may not be related to later school achievement.

Gender

Gender has been found to be an influential factor in school readiness. Angenent and deMan (1989) found a significant relationship between social maturity and females. Girls appeared to be more socially mature than boys. Additionally, 20% of boys were identified as not ready for school compared to 11% of girls. Consistent with this study, Zill (1999) has reported that boys tend to have more academic and behavioral problems than girls.

Academic Readiness

Cognitive readiness assessments such as one-dimensional, group-administered, computer scored or multiple-choice achievement tests used for placement, grouping, retention, or labeling may be frowned upon by early childhood experts (Kagan et al.,

1995; Meisels, 1999), yet some achievement tests have credible predictive power. Across six longitudinal data sets, Duncan et al. (2007) found that early math and literacy skills had the greater predictive power over reading and attention for later school reading and math achievement. Additionally, Agenent and deMan (1989) found that higher intelligence is associated with greater readiness. However, Carlton and Winsler (1999) have found assessments that only regard academics fail to predict future academic success. Undoubtedly a child with basic knowledge would have an easier adjustment to the increasing academic demands of school.

Socioeconomic Status and Ethnicity

Children from low socioeconomic families and minority children concern educators in their ability to adjust to school. Some areas of concern may include cultural perspectives, nutrition, language barriers, parent involvement, single parent families, or typology of "at-risk". Perez-Johnson and Maynard (2007) discuss the concern with achievement gaps between children of low income and diverse ethnicity/race as an influence on policy and productivity in the educational system. In their study, they find that "early, vigorous" intervention for disadvantaged children is the best chance to reduce gaps in school readiness. Although seemingly unrealistic, Duncan and Magnuson (2005) found that increasing family income could be a promising intervention to narrow the achievement gap in school readiness. In a large study involving 501 Pre-K students in five different states' public education programs, Barbarin et al. (2006) found that children from high socioeconomic families had higher academic skills in math and language and fewer behavior problems than their disadvantaged peers. Low socioeconomic status and

race/ethnicity are characteristics that are often negatively associated with school readiness.

Health

Related to socioeconomic circumstances and ethnicity is a child's health and well being. Specifically, prenatal care, low birth weight, immunizations, and preventive health care are areas of concern. Community schools have been created with clinics in the school to promote health care. As well, schools host dental, immunization, flu-shot, or wellness check clinics. Communities are developing parenting classes that include information on nutrition and health. Also, schools not only have lunch, but now breakfast is served for children who may not receive a healthy meal at home. Dworkin (1993) asserts that pediatric care can monitor and screen while being an effective predictor of school readiness. More specifically, Janus and Duku (2007) found that a child's suboptimal health contributes to vulnerability when starting school. It can be concluded that a child's school readiness is influenced by their health.

The Parent

A child's family largely impacts experiences related to school readiness. It has been stated by the National Goals Panel (1995) that parents are their children's first teacher. The relationship between the child and their parent as well as the beliefs and practices of parents are key influential components in children's school readiness. Pianta (1997, p. 14) remarks that "parent-child relationships have a history, a memory; they are patterns of interactions, expectations, beliefs and affects organized at a level more abstract than observable behaviors."

Parent Expectations

From the child-parent relationship, parental expectations influence a child's ability to be successful in school. An early study by Maxwell and Eller (1994) found that high parental expectations of school success, cognitive stimulation from parents at home, and positive parent-child interactions were the best predictors of school success.

If parental expectations play such a key role, it is important to discover what they believe and practice. A Head Start study indicated that when parents expect their children to do well, they will (Galper, Wigfield, & Seefeldt, 1997). As well, the study indicated the parents' positive belief in their child was correlated with their children's positive attitude toward school, performance on math and reading achievement testing, and the child's belief in him/herself. Undoubtedly the parent-child relationship and parent expectations have profound value for children's school readiness and adjustment. Diamond, Reagan, and Bandyk (2000) found that parents' concern for kindergarten readiness and the activities parents participated in with their children were unrelated. Report of what parents say is important for school readiness may differ from what they actually practice at home (West, 1993). More research is need regarding the relationship between the readiness activities parents engage in with their children and parents' perceptions of school readiness.

Parental Beliefs of Academic Readiness

Diamond et al. (2000) found that parents' kindergarten readiness beliefs included both behavior and academic skills. The study concluded that parents do put more emphasis on a child's academic abilities when considering delaying their child's school entry. Some research (Welch & White, 1999; West, 1993) found that parents view

academic skills as important for school readiness. Academic skills may include counting, holding a pencil correctly, and knowing the alphabet. Kindergarten entry assessments, state-wide testing, new standards for No Child Left Behind criteria, or the media attention may be the reason for parents' concern for academic skills.

Parental Beliefs of Social Readiness

Others find that parents view social skills as important in kindergarten readiness (Kim et al., 2005; McAllister, Wilson, Green, & Baldwin, 2005; McIntyre, Eckert, Fiese, DiGenaro, & Wildenger, 2007). Social skills may include communication, taking turns, paying attention and self-control. A Head Start study (McAllister et al., 2005) noted that the parents in their sample valued academic skills, yet tended to place more emphasis on social and emotional health or skills. The parents wanted their children to have self-respect and be able to stand up for themselves as they viewed school as a threatening or "foreign" environment. With children coming from diverse preschool, childcare, community and family experiences, social skills are a central aspect of kindergarten readiness.

Parental Education

Parents' educational level has been found to affect their views on school readiness (Greenburg, Liuana, Cole, & Pinderhughes, 1999; West, 1993). In fact, West (1993) found that a majority of parents who were college completers believed academic skills were important for kindergarten readiness compared to the majority of parents who had less than a high school education, high school education, or some college, who placed more of an importance on social and emotional behaviors. On the contrary, Piotrkowski et al., (2001) found that of the 441 parents surveyed, parental educational attainment was

unrelated to views of readiness. Regardless, parental education level is often a variable considered in studies of children.

Family Culture

Certainly culture influences parental values, expectations and practices. In a study on parental ethnotheories, Brooker (2003) found that more than maternal education, home culture and preparation have greater consequences for school experiences and achievements. As well, a Head Start study involving parents of White, Black, Hispanic, Asian and other cultural groups found that ethnic differences emerged regarding parents' beliefs about their children's abilities and futures (Galper et al., 1997). Their findings showed that White and Black parents were significantly more confident than Hispanic parents, believing that their children would receive a good education. Asian parents were significantly more confident than Hispanic parents that their children would obtain a job after schooling. Hispanic parents rated their children as significantly more positive in sports. It can be concluded that parental beliefs and expectations are influenced by ethnicity and culture.

Home Activities

There is limited research on the topic of what parents do at home to help their children become ready for school. Diamond et al. (2000) researched the frequency of home learning activities parents report their children were engaged in the previous week. Parents reported providing their children with reading and watching educational television several times a week as learning opportunities. However, the home learning activities reported were unrelated to parents' concerns regarding their child's kindergarten readiness. In a more recent study, Kim et al. (2005) researched the

relationship between parents' beliefs about kindergarten readiness and parenting practices. The results also indicated no strong consistency between parents' beliefs and parenting activities. These studies address parental beliefs as they relate to school readiness. Further research needs to be developed in these areas to address the types of activities and frequency of activities as they relate to parents, perceptions and beliefs of school readiness.

In a large study of 551 parents of preschoolers and kindergarteners, Stipek, Milburn, Clements, and Daniels (1992) found a significant association between parents' beliefs about appropriate ways to teach basic skills to their children and the learning activities they engaged in with their children. Further, they found that parents who embraced didactic, teacher-directed approaches to learning engage in formal teaching activities like flashcards or workbooks. Also, parents who engage in informal activities such as reading to their child opposed didactic methods. As well, poorly educated parents were more closely associated with didactic methods compared to well-educated parents. The researchers do caution that the significant associations must be interpreted cautiously because parental practices were surveyed and not observed directly. More research is needed to explore the relationship between parents' beliefs in appropriate ways to teach basic skills, the learning activities they engage in, and school readiness.

Kessler (2002) explored the relationship between monthly and weekly parental activities and kindergarten readiness. The survey included eight weekly activities: story telling, teaching letters and numbers, singing, art, outdoor games, indoor games, running errands together like going to the bank, and involving a child in chores. The survey also included six monthly activities including: visiting the library, going to a play concert or

show, visiting an art gallery, museum, or historical site, visiting the zoo, talking with a child about heritage, and attending a community or religious event.

In the study, Kessler (2002) reports that there was no significant relationship between monthly activities and school readiness. A positive relationship was found between weekly activities and school readiness. In fact, parents' involvement in weekly activities contributed more to kindergarten readiness than demographic variables including gender, ethnicity, highest grade parent completed, and age. Further, parents who participated more in weekly activities had children who scored higher on the MAS-R, language and literacy skills, and social development skills assessments. Kessler also notes that the results failed to differentiate between the type of activity, or the amount of activity and should be researched further.

Further research on parent and home activities and children's school success is needed. As well, more research is needed on differentiating between the types of parentchild activities and the frequency of the parent-child activities as it relates to school readiness. Little empirical research exists exploring the relationship among these variables.

The Teacher

The teacher-student relationship, teachers' expectations, and beliefs regarding school readiness are vital to their students. Pianta and Stuhlman (2004) assert that teacher-child relationships are an influential component in children's ability to acquire the skills needed for success. As well, Welch and White (1999) remark how teachers' beliefs can influence early evaluations of students' abilities and teachers' expectations, which in turn affect student placement and promotion. Therefore, it is important to

discover what teachers believe and expect regarding school readiness. Several categories of beliefs emerge including academics, social skills, and age/gender/physical health. *Teacher Beliefs of Academic Readiness*

In a longitudinal study including 3,305 teacher participants, Lin, Lawrence, and Gorrell (2003) found that younger teachers compared to older teachers valued academic skills more highly in school readiness. Similarly, Piotrkowski et al. (2001) report preschool teachers more than kindergarten teachers rated basic knowledge and skills as more important readiness skills. Overall, academic skills have been reported by teachers as less necessary than social skills for school readiness (Johnson, Gallagher, Cook & Wong, 1995; Lin et al., 2003; McBryde et al., 2004; Welch & White, 1999).

Teacher Beliefs of Social Readiness

Teachers report social skills such as temperament, communication, compliance and the ability to interact with peers and authority as influential to school readiness. McBryde et al. (2004) report that well-developed social skills, adaptability, and persistence with an activity positively influenced teachers' decisions and beliefs of school readiness. As well, temperament related to withdrawn or shy behaviors negatively influenced teachers' decisions and beliefs of school readiness. Similarly, Piotrkowski et al., (2001) report teachers believe social competence is associated with school readiness. Welch and White (1999) also note teachers report communicating needs, wants and thoughts and being enthusiastic and curious as essential to school readiness. Finally, Johnson et al. (1995) surveyed 176 teachers in three school districts, one urban, another suburban and the other rural. These teachers identified independence, communication ability, social skills, and getting along with peers and adults critical for transitioning into

kindergarten. The previous studies suggest that teachers consider social skills critical for school readiness.

Teacher Beliefs about Age, Gender, and Health

Age and gender tend to influence teachers' beliefs and practices related to school readiness. McBryde et al. (2004) find that teachers perceived girls as more ready for school than boys. Additionally, they find that chronological age influenced teachers' beliefs on school readiness. As well, health concerns emerged from teacher reports of school readiness. Numerous researchers have consistent data regarding teachers' report of the importance of physical health, being well rested and well nourished for school readiness (Meisels, 1999; Piotrkowski et al., 2001; Welch & White, 1999). It is agreeable that children who are healthy, well nourished and rested will excel in teachers' expectations and school readiness.

Finally, a teacher's expectations and beliefs impact children's ability to acquire the skills necessary for school success (Pianta & Stuhlman, 2004). Academic and social adjustment as well as age, gender and health are factors that influence teachers' beliefs and practices (McBryde et al., 2004; Meisels, 1999; Piotrkowski et al., 2001). More research is needed on how teachers' beliefs about the diverse factors of school readiness relate to students' school adjustment and success.

Parents and Teachers

Some similarities and some differences have emerged in the research regarding parents' and teachers' expectations, beliefs, and practices related to school readiness. West (1993) asserts that when parents and teachers hold similar beliefs, parents may encourage their children in the skills teachers look for as children begin kindergarten. Welch and White (1999, p. 13) emphasize, "High levels of congruence between parent and teacher groups may be facilitating factors in the quality of education students receive."

Similar factors emerged in a study investigating the factors that influence parents' and teachers' beliefs on school readiness of 215 preschool children. These factors include chronological age, task persistence, and adaptable behaviors (McBryde et al., 2004). In another study investigating parents' and teachers' beliefs about school readiness in a high needs community, Piotrkowski et al. (2001) found that parents and teachers agreed on health and social competence as necessary for children to be ready for the transition to school.

Social skills tend to be the common thread among teachers and parents, although there are some inconsistencies in the vast amount of literature on school readiness. The activities parents do with their children can facilitate social skills as well as academic skills to help promote school readiness. More research is needed to study the relationship between parent reports of frequency of activities and what types of activities parents are doing with their children to help them become ready for school. Research on these topics gives teachers and schools valuable information to become a "ready school" as well as providing information to community leaders and policymakers in their support of parents.

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

Participants

The community needs assessment included parents, teachers and students in several communities in Oklahoma. Overall, 862 parents of Pre-Kindergarten, Kindergarten, and 1st grade children participated. For the purposes of the present study, data from parents (N=577) of Pre-K and Kindergarten children will be used. Table 1 shows parent response by grade level. Table 2 shows parent report of children's child care settings prior to school entry. The demographic information about the families in this study is represented in Table 3. Information about children's health was also gathered from parents. Parents answered "yes" or "no" to 14 questions indicating children's health. Table 4 shows parent report of the overall health of children.

Teachers from public schools as well as Pre-K teachers from Head Start, faithbased, private preschools, and family child care homes participated. Overall, 136 Pre-Kindergarten, Kindergarten, and first grade teachers participated. For the purposes of the present study, data from the 70 Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers who participated will be used. Teacher demographic information is represented in Table 5.

Parent Responses by Grade Level (N=577)

Grade Level	Parents n (%)
Pre-Kindergarten	371 (64)
Kindergarten	206 (36)

Table 2

Child Care Settings Prior to School Entry (N=577)

Child Care Setting	Parents
-	n (%)
Head Start	61 (11)
Faith-based	99 (17)
Private	190 (33)
Family Child Care	106 (18)
Relative Care	134 (23)

Fa	amilv	Demo	graph	hics	(N=577)
	anni y	Dunio	Siapi	ncs .	(1,-3,1,1)

Descriptor	Parents (N=577)	
# of Children in the Home		
# of Children in the Home		
Mean	2.21	
Range	1—8	
# of Adults in the Home		
Mean	1.94	
Marital Status		
Single	11%	
Married	77%	
Divorced	5%	
Yearly Household Income		
Mean	\$36,000—\$40,999	
Range		
Low	0	
High	\$250,000+	

Table 4

Parent Report of Overall Health of Child (N=577)

Parents	_
n (%)	
352 (61)	
218 (38)	
2 (<1)	
4 (<1)	
	Parents n (%) 352 (61) 218 (38) 2 (<1) 4 (<1)

Teacher Demographic Information (N=70)

Descriptor	
Mean Age	37.48 years
Ages 23—29	25%
Ages 30—35	29%
Ages 36—47	21%
Ages 48—60	25%
Sex	
Female	99%
Male	1%
Marital Status	
Single (never married)	11%
Single (separated, divorced, widowed)	9%
Married	79%
Ethnicity	
Native American	8%
Caucasian	91%
Other	1%
Education Level	
High school/GED	2%
Some College	12%
Two-year College Degree	3%
Four-year College Degree	36%
Some Graduate College	23%
Graduate Degree	24%
# years teaching experience	
Mean	11 years
Range	<1 year—34 years
# years living in community	
Mean	18 years
Range	<1 year—48 years
# years teaching in community	
Mean	9 years
Range	<1 year—30 years

Procedures

The present study involves secondary data analysis. Data was gathered from parents, teachers, and child care providers in several communities in central Oklahoma in the fall of 2005. Participation in the project was voluntary. Questionnaires were distributed to parents and teachers via the schools.

Instruments

A parent questionnaire was designed to gather information (see Appendix A). The questionnaire covered four general areas: Family Demographics (18 items), Child Health (15 items), Family & Children's Activities (14 items; 9 weekly and 5 monthly), and Parenting Programs (4 items). Approximately 2,000 questionnaires were distributed to parents via public schools, child care centers, Head Start programs, and family child care homes. Eight-hundred-sixty-two parents responded, for a response rate of 43%.

A teacher questionnaire was designed for Pre-Kindergarten, Kindergarten, and first grade teachers. Questions were asked about skills, abilities, and experiences of the children in their classrooms (15 items; see Appendix B). Teachers were also asked about school transition activities (19 items). Additionally, teachers were asked openended questions regarding their perceptions of the needs of the children and families in their communities (8 items). Approximately 128 questionnaires were distributed to public school teachers. As well, 65 questionnaires were distributed to Pre-Kindergarten teachers in child care centers in the community (Head Start, faith-based, private preschool, and family child care homes). Eighty-nine teachers responded, for a response rate of 46%.

Data Analyses

The following analyses were used to explore the research questions.

- Research Question 1: What skills, abilities and experiences do teachers report are important for children's developmental success? Descriptive analyses were conducted, including means, standard deviations, ranges, frequencies, and percentages. Additionally, ANOVA's were conducted to determine if there were differences in teacher report of the importance of skills by years of teaching experience and by grade level (Pre-K vs. Kindergarten).
- Research Question 2: What skills, abilities and experiences do teachers report children demonstrate? Descriptive analyses were conducted, including means, standard deviations, ranges, frequencies, and percentages. Additionally, Chisquare analyses were conducted to determine if there were differences in teacher report of children's skills by years of teaching experience and by grade level (Pre-K vs. Kindergarten).
- Research Question 3: What school readiness activities do parents report that their children participate in? Descriptive analyses were conducted, including means, standard deviations, ranges, frequencies, and percentages. An exploratory factor analysis was run to determine how the items loaded together as factors. Additionally, ANOVA's were conducted to determine if there were differences in parent report of activities by grade level of the child (i.e., Pre-K vs. Kindergarten).
- Research Questions 4 & 5: What is the relationship between parent report of *type of activities* and teacher report of children's skills and abilities? What is

the relationship between parent report of *frequency of activities* and teacher report of children's skills and abilities? Analyses for these research questions were combined. Logistic regression analyses were conducted; predictor variables were each of the 3 activity factors identified via the factor analysis (see Research Question 3). Outcome variables were teacher report of each of the 15 skills/abilities/experiences. Thus, 45 separate logistic regression analyses were performed. Family income was controlled for in each of the analyses.

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

Teacher Report of Importance of Skills, Abilities, and Experiences

Teachers reported on the importance of different skills, abilities, and experiences that children need for developmental success (see Tables 6 and 7). Of the teacher report, 77% of teachers reported "shows curiosity and interest in learning" as an *essential* skill. Other skills considered *essential* by many teachers included: "following directions and instructions" (70%), "good language & communication skills" (61%), and "listen & pay attention" (60%).

A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted to determine if there were differences in teacher report of importance of skills by grade level. No significant differences were found. As well, a one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if there were differences in teacher report of importance of skills by years of teaching experience (with years grouped by quartiles). Again, no significant differences were found.

Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Teacher Ratings of Importance of Skills, Abilities, and Experiences (N = 70)

Skill / Ability/ Experience	Mean	<u>+</u> SD	Range*
Listen & pay attention	4.43	0.93	1—5
Good language & communication skills	4.49	0.74	2—5
Positive prior reading experiences	4.54	0.74	1—5
Toilet trained	4.30	0.91	1—5
Follow directions and instructions	4.55	0.85	1—5
Good social skills	4.45	0.76	1—5
Sit still	3.81	0.88	1—5
Possess basic knowledge	3.58	1.06	1—5
Separate easily from parents or	3.96	0.79	2—5
Exhibit fine motor skills	3.96	0.96	2—5
Show curiosity and interest in learning	4.69	0.68	1—5
Care for/assist in caring for self	3.90	0.79	1—5
Physically healthy	4.26	0.83	2—5
Developmentally mature	4.00	0.93	1—5
Signs of previous experiences with other children	3.88	0.87	1—5

*1=no importance; 2=little importance; 3=moderate importance; 4=very important; 5=essential

Skills/Ability/	No	Little	Moderate	Very	
Experience	Importance	Importance	Importance	Important	Essential
Experience	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Listen & pay attention	3 (4)	0 (0)	3 (4)	22 (31)	42 (60)
Good language & communication skills	0 (0)	2 (3)	4 (6)	21 (30)	42 (61)
Positive prior reading experiences	1 (1)	1 (1)	1 (1)	23 (33)	43 (62)
Toilet trained	1 (1)	1 (1)	11 (16)	18 (26)	36 (51)
Follow directions and instructions	2 (3)	0 (0)	4 (6)	15 (22)	48 (70)
Good social skills	1 (1)	1 (1)	2 (3)	27 (39)	38 (55)
Sit still	1 (1)	2 (3)	22 (32)	28 (41)	16 (23)
Possess basic knowledge	3 (5)	6 (9)	21 (31)	23 (34)	14 (21)
Separate easily from parents or caregivers	0 (0)	1 (1)	20 (29)	30 (43)	19 (27)
Exhibit fine motor skills	0 (0)	6 (9)	15 (22)	24 (35)	24 (35)
Show curiosity and interest in learning	1 (2)	0 (0)	2 (3)	13 (19)	52 (77)
Care for/assist in caring for self	1 (2)	1 (2)	16 (24)	36 (53)	14 (21)
Physically healthy	3 (4)	0 (0)	8 (11)	27 (39)	32 (46)
Developmentally mature	1 (2)	4 (6)	11 (16)	30 (44)	22 (32)
Signs of previous experiences with other children	1 (1)	2 (3)	18 (26)	31 (45)	17 (25)

Frequencies for Teacher Ratings of Importance of Children's Skills, Abilities, and Experiences (N = 70)
Teacher Report of Students' Skills, Abilities, and Experiences

Teachers reported whether or not the majority of children in their class possessed or demonstrated a variety of skills needed for developmental success (see Tables 8 and 9). Ninety-nine percent of teachers reported that the majority of children in their class "separate easily from parents or caregivers." Other skills where a large percentage of teachers reported that the majority of children in their class possessed the skill included: "physically healthy" (97%), "toilet trained" (96%), and "shows curiosity and interest in learning" (96%). Interestingly, only 40% of teachers reported that the majority of children in their class "possess basic knowledge."

Chi-square analyses indicated there were no significant differences in teacher report of children's skills by years of teaching experience (using quartiles for teaching experience). Chi-square analyses indicated there were differences in teacher report of children's skills by grade level (Pre-K vs. Kindergarten). Significant differences were found between Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers for three skills: social skills, exhibits fine motor skills, and cares for oneself (see Tables 10, 11, & 12). For each of these activities, Kindergarten teachers indicated their students demonstrated or possessed these skills more frequently than Pre-K teachers.

Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Teacher Ratings of Children's Skills, Abilities, and Experiences (N = 70)

Skill / Ability / Experience	Mean	<u>+</u> SD	Range*
Listen & pay attention	.67	0.47	0—1
Good language & communication skills	.87	0.34	0—1
Positive prior reading experiences	.84	0.37	0—1
Toilet trained	.96	0.21	0—1
Follow directions and instructions	.72	0.45	0—1
Good social skills	.67	0.48	0—1
Sit still	.57	0.50	0—1
Possess basic knowledge	.40	0.49	0—1
Separate easily from parents or caregivers	.99	0.12	0—1
Exhibit fine motor skills	.54	0.50	0—1
Show curiosity and interest in learning	.96	0.21	0—1
Care for/assist in caring for self	.88	0.33	0—1
Physically healthy	.97	0.17	0—1
Developmentally mature	.64	0.48	0—1
Signs of previous experiences with other children *0=no: 1=ves	.93	0.26	0—1

Skill / Ability / Experience	Teachers reporting majority of the skills/abilities/experiences
Listen & pay attention	<u>n (%)</u> 47 (67)
Good language & communication skills	59 (87)
Positive prior reading experiences	58 (84)
Toilet trained	66 (96)
Follow directions and instructions	49 (72)
Good social skills	46 (67)
Sit still	40 (57)
Possess basic knowledge	26 (40)
Separate easily from parents or caregivers	69 (99)
Exhibit fine motor skills	38 (54)
Show curiosity and interest in learning	65 (96)
Care for/assist in caring for self	60 (88)
Physically healthy	67 (97)
Developmentally mature	44 (64)
Signs of previous experiences with other children	64 (93)

Frequencies for Teacher Ratings of Children's Skills, Abilities, and Experiences (N = 70)

Skill	Pre-K Teachers (n=45)	Kindergarten Teachers (n=24)	χ2(1)	p
Social Skills	58%	83%	4.60	.032

Chi-square Analysis for Percent of Teachers Reporting Majority of Children Demonstrate Social Skills (N=69)

Table 11

Chi-square Analysis for Percent of Teachers Reporting Majority of Children Demonstrate Motor Skills (N=70)

Skill	Pre-K Teachers (n=46)	Kindergarten Teachers (n=24)	χ2(1)	p
Motor Skills	37%	88%	12.24	.000

Chi-square Analysis for Percent of Teachers Reporting Majority of Children Care for Self (N=68)

Skill	Pre-K Teachers (n=44)	Kindergarten Teachers (n=24)	χ2(1)	p
Caring for Self	82%	100%	4.96	.026

Parent Report of Activities

Descriptive information about parent report of children's *weekly* activities can be seen in Tables 13 and 14. Descriptive information about parent report of children's *monthly* activities can be seen in Tables 15 and 16.

Factor Analysis and Scale Reliabilities.

In order to determine whether the 13 items representing school readiness activities reported by parents could be reduced to a smaller number of activities, a principal axis factor analysis with varimax rotation was performed. Factors with an eigenvalue greater than or equal to 1.0 were included in the final solution. Items with factor loadings of .40 or higher were considered to comprise a factor and were interpreted in the solution (Tabachnick & Fidell, 1998). The solution converged easily and could be readily interpreted. Four factors were extracted, accounting for 52% of the variance. Three of the factors were interpretable. The three factors were named: Hands-on Activities, Sports & Games, and Community-based Activities. One item was complex ("builds things with child"), loading on more than one factor. Because this item loaded on one interpretable and one non-interpretable factor, it was retained on the interpretable factor of Hands-on Activities. Table 17 shows the factor loadings for each of the items.

Scale reliabilities for the School Readiness Activity factors were calculated using coefficient alpha. Alpha coefficients for hands-on activities exceeded the .70 criterion (Nunnally, 1978). However, sports & games (.52) and community-based activities (.58) fell below this criterion. This is likely due to the few number of items that comprise each of these two factors (3 items for each factor). Therefore, results of

analyses using these factors must be interpreted with caution (see Table 18).

Table 13

Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Parent Ratings of Weekly Activities (N = 577)

Weekly Activity	Mean	<u>+</u> SD	Range *
Read to child	2 12	0.77	11
Sing with child	1.93	0.83	14
Do art activities with child	1.43	0.78	1—4
Help child do chores	1.72	0.78	1—4
Play board/card games with child	1.11	0.63	1—4
Talk about nature with child	1.53	0.78	1—4
Build things with child	1.33	0.73	1—4
Play sports with child	1.38	0.75	1—4
Watch TV/Videos/DVD with child	1.77	0.81	1—4

*1=never; 2=1-3 times/wk; 3=4-6 times/wk; 4=7 or more times/wk

Weekly Activity	Never n (%)	1-3 times/ Week	4—6 times/ Week	7+ times/ Week
		n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Read to child	3 (<1)	132 (23)	234 (40)	209 (36)
Sing with child	9 (2)	194 (34)	202 (35)	169 (29)
Do art activities with child	44 (8)	301 (52)	169 (29)	62 (11)
Help child do chores	14 (3)	233 (41)	219 (38)	104 (18)
Play board/card games with child	73 (13)	378 (66)	106 (19)	14 (3)
Talk about nature with child	26 (5)	294 (51)	178 (31)	75 (13)
Build things with child	50 (9)	321 (56)	163 (29)	37 (7)
Play sports with child	53 (9)	285 (50)	193 (34)	39 (7)
Watch TV/Videos/DVD with child	5 (<1)	248 (43)	200 (35)	119 (21)

Frequencies for Parent Ratings of Frequency of Weekly Activities (N = 577)

Monthly Activity	Mean	<u>+</u> SD	Range *
Attend a play/concert/live show	.35	0.54	1—4
Visit an art gallery/museum/ historical site	.31	0.49	1—4
Visit zoo/aquarium or petting farm	.55	0.58	1—4
Attend a sporting event	.86	0.86	1—4
Attend a church/religious event	1.46	1.07	1—4

Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Parent Ratings of Monthly Activities (N = 577)

*1=never; 2=1-3 times/month; 3=4-6 times/month; 4=7 or more times/month

<i>Frequencies</i>	for Parent	Ratings	of Frequency	of Monthl	y Activities	(N = 577)
1 .	,	0	J 1 J			\ /

Monthly Activity	Never n (%)	1-3 times/ Month n (%)	4—6 times/ Month n (%)	7+ times/ Month n (%)
Attends a play, concert, or live show	384 (68)	170 (30)	11 (2)	2 (<1)
Visit an art gallery, museum or historical site	404 (71)	156 (27)	9 (2)	0
Visit a zoo/aquarium/ petting farm	277 (49)	274 (48)	13 (2)	4 (<1)
Attend a sporting event	244 (39)	236 (42)	74 (13)	34 (6)
Attend a church/religious event	128 (23)	174 (31)	142 (25)	125 (22)

Factor Analysis of School Readiness Activities (N=577)

	Factor Loadings				
Factor	1	2	3	4	
Hands-On Activities					
Read to child	.71	05	.04	11	
Sing with child	.72	.01	.04	13	
Do art activities with child	.56	.27	.22	.15	
Help child do chores	.51	.08	.26	.18	
Talk about nature with child	.58	.24	.08	.31	
Build things with child	.43	.27	.35	.46	
Community Activities					
Attend a play, concert, or live show	.07	.63	.05	22	
Visit an art gallery, museum, or historical site	.06	.76	.06	01	
Visit a zoo, aquarium, or petting farm	.09	.73	.13	.03	
Sports & Games					
Play games (board/card) with child	.32	.05	.56	.05	
Play sports with child	.17	.10	.78	.18	
Attend a sporting event	15	.19	.69	44	

Table 18

Alpha Coefficients for School Readiness Activity Factors (N = 577)

Source	Alpha Coefficient
Hands-on Activities	.72
Sports & Games	.52
Community-based Activities	.58

An ANOVA was conducted to determine if there were differences in parent report of individual activities by grade level of the child. Significant differences between Pre-K and Kindergarten parent report were found for reading, singing, and building things with their child (See Tables 19, 20, & 21). Parents of Pre-K children were more likely to read with their child (M=2.18, SD=0.79) than Kindergarten parents (M=2.08, SD=0.73). Parents of Pre-K children were more likely to sing with their child (M=1.98, SD=0.80) than Kindergarten parents (M=1.82, SD=0.87). Parents of Pre-K children were more likely to build things with their child (M=1.40, SD=0.75) than Kindergarten parents (M=1.20, SD=0.66).

Relationships between Parent Report and Teacher Report

Logistic regression analyses were conducted to examine the relationship between parent report of activities and teacher report of children's skills and abilities. Parent and teacher data were matched by classroom (N=367). Due to the nature of the data, only data from parents and teachers of children attending Pre-K and Kindergarten in the public schools were used.

The three activity factors identified in the factor analysis were the predictor variables (hands-on activities; sports/games; community activities). The outcome variables were the 15 different skills/abilities/experiences that teachers reported on (i.e., whether or not the majority of children in their classroom possessed the skill). The three different activity factors were entered as predictors separately with each of

One-way Analysis of Variance Summary for Parent Report of Reading with their Child: Differences by Grade Level (N=577)

Source	df	SS	MS	F
Between groups	1	2.84	2.84	4.78*
Within group	574	341.41	0.60	
Total	575	344.25		
*p<.01				

Table 20

One-way Analysis of Variance Summary for Parent Report of Singing with their Child: Differences by Grade Level (N=577)

Source	df	SS	MS	F
Between groups	1	3.55	3.55	5.18*
Within group	572	392.22	0.69	
Total	573	395.78		

Table 21

One-way Analysis of Variance Summary for Parent Report of Building Things with their Child: Differences by Grade Level (N=577)

JJ J	1	,		
Source	df	SS	MS	F
Between groups	1	5.20	5.20	10.04*
Within group	569	294.56	0.52	
Total	570	299.76		

*p<.01

the 15 different skills as outcomes. Thus 45 different logistic regression analyses were conducted. Each analysis controlled for family income.

The Community Activities factor showed a significant relationship with two skills. "Sitting still" yielded an odds ratio of .82 and "cares for self" yielded an odds ratio of 1.48 (See Tables 22 & 23). In other words, for each one unit of increase in number of community activities children engaged in, teachers were .82 times less likely to report that the majority of children in their class were able to sit still and 1.48 times more likely to report that the majority of children in their class were able to care for themselves. The Hands-On Activities factor showed a significant relationship with "developmental maturity", yielding an odds ratio of 1.08 (See Table 24). Thus, for each one unit increase in number of hands-on activities children engaged in, teachers were 1.08 times more likely to report that the majority of children in their class were developmentally mature.

Logistic Regression Predicting Sitting Still (N=367)

Predictor	β	SE	Odds Ratio						
Community Activities	198**	.099	0.821						
**p<.05									
Table 23									
Logistic Regression Predicting Cares for Self (N=367)									
Predictor	β	SE	Odds Ratio						
Community Activities	0.393**	0.167	1.48						
**p<.05									
Table 24									
Logistic Regression Predicting Developmental Maturity (N=367)									

Predictor	β	SE	Odds Ratio	
Hands-on Activities	.074**	0.038	1.08	

**p<.05

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION

Teacher Report of Importance of Skills, Abilities, and Experiences

Teacher report on the importance of different skills, abilities, and experiences that children need for developmental success showed minimal variability. Teachers predominately reported all skills to be moderately important to essential. The skills reported on varied from social skills, health, previous school experience, and basic knowledge. Previous research on teachers' beliefs of importance of skills needed for developmental success also find these skills necessary for school success (Johnson et al., 1995; McBryde et al., 2004; Piotrkowski et al., 2001). Thus findings in the present study support existing research.

Analyses of teacher report of importance of skills necessary for developmental success by grade level (i.e., Pre-Kindergarten vs. Kindergarten) and teacher report of importance of skills necessary for developmental success by years of teaching experience indicated no significant differences. The lack of differences may be due to limited variability in teacher report, as most teachers reported most skills were either "very important" or "essential".

These findings differ from previous research. Piotrkowski et al. (2001) found that preschool teachers rated basic knowledge and skills more important than kindergarten teachers. These differences may be due to the sample population. The sample population in Piotrkowski et al. (2001) was mostly Hispanic and African-

American in an urban high-needs school district compared to the sample in this study, which was predominately Caucasian and in a rural school district. Even so, one might assume some variability in perception of the importance of skills by years teaching experience or grade level.

Teacher Report of Students' Skills, Abilities, and Experiences

Teachers reported on the skills, abilities, and experiences children in their class predominately possessed or demonstrated. Of the skills teachers reported that their students possessed, separating easily from parents, physically healthy, toilet trained, and show curiosity and interest in learning were the highest percentage reported. Possesses basic knowledge, exhibits fine motor skills and sits still were the skills where lower percentages of teachers reported that the majority of children in their class possessed that skill.

Analyses of teacher report of skills, abilities, and experiences by years of teaching experience showed significant differences. Analyses for teacher report of skills, abilities, and experiences by grade level found that kindergarten teachers reported students possessing or demonstrating good social skills, exhibits fine motor skills, and cares for oneself more frequently than preschool teachers. These differences may be due to the maturity and experience kindergarten students have compared to preschool students.

Parent Report of Activities

The results of parent report on activities they engage in with their children yielded interesting findings. Analyses indicated significant differences between preschool and kindergarten parents' report of individual activities. Preschool parents

reported reading to their child, singing with their child, and building things with their child more often than parents of kindergartners. It could be speculated that these results could be due to preschool parents engaging in more playful school readiness activities with their children compared to kindergarten parents possibly engaging in more formal activities. Singing, building things, and reading self-selected materials may be seen as more age-appropriate activities by preschool teachers and parents of preschoolers. Some formal activities kindergarteners and their parents may engage in include school homework or teacher-assigned reading selections. No existing literature researching the relationship between parent school readiness activities and grade level has been found to support or confirm the present findings.

Relationships between Parent Report and Teacher Report

The three activity factors were used to answer the final two research questions exploring the relationship between parent report of activities and teacher report of children's skills and abilities. The "Hands-on Activities" factor included reading to child, singing with child, doing art activities with child, helping child with chores, talking about nature with child, and building with child. These activities involve communication skills, pre-literacy skills, pre-math skills, pre-science skills, and creativity. All of these activities facilitate the relationship between a parent and a child while developing school readiness skills.

The "Community Activities" factor included attend a play, concert or live show, visit an art gallery, museum or historical site, and visit a zoo, aquarium, or petting farm. All of these activities involve parent-child activities outside of the home which can facilitate social skills and an appreciation for learning and discovery. The

final factor was "Sports and Games," including playing games (board/card) with child, playing sports with child. and attending sporting events. Each of these activities also facilitates social skills, communication skills, and motor skills. All three of the factors can facilitate social skills. Additionally, they all involve play or are exploratory in nature, which may foster children's curiosity and interest in learning.

It was hypothesized that parents who report engaging in school readiness activities more frequently would have higher teacher report of children's skills and abilities. The logistic regression analyses using the three factors found two relationships supporting the hypothesis and one rejecting the hypothesis. The logistic regression only used the public school Pre K and Kindergarten data. It is possible that data from the other child care settings may have yielded differing results.

The "Hands-on Activities" factor was related to developmental maturity. The more parents and children engage in hands on activities together (reading, singing, art, chores, talking about nature and building), the more likely teachers were to report that the majority of children in their class were developmentally mature. This relationship supports the hypothesis that parents who report reading with their child, helping their child do chores, and build things with their child will have higher teacher report of children's skills and abilities.

Again these activities involve positive parent-child interaction while developing school readiness skills including: communication skills, pre-literacy skills, pre-math skills, pre-science skills and creativity. Engaging in these activities may also develop children's interest and curiosity for learning.

The "Community Activities" factor was related to higher teacher report of students' ability to care for himself/herself. One might speculate that parents who engage in community activities such as attending a play, concert or live show, visiting an art gallery, museum or historical site, and visiting a zoo, aquarium, or petting farm are more likely to take children who possess skills to care for themselves. Or possibly, children who engage in community events have more experience in having to care for themselves in public.

The "Community Activities" factor was also negatively related to teacher report of sitting still. The nature of some community events such as petting farms, zoos, aquariums museums, or historical sites is interactive. It could be speculated that the negative relationship between community events and sitting still may be due to the nature of community activities. These events tend to be interactive as well as engaging multiple senses; this contrasts with compared to more formal types of school learning activities that require children to sit still. This negative relationship needs to be explored further.

Findings from the current study are partially supported by previous research. Kessler (2002) found a positive relationship between weekly activities and school readiness but no relationship between monthly activities and school readiness. The current study was limited to teacher report on the majority of the students in the class possessing skills compared to Kessler's study reporting on individual students. More research is needed relating the types of activities parents and children engage as it relates to school individual student readiness and success.

Limitations

As mentioned above, the nature of the data provided by teachers has some limitations. Teachers reported on the skills of "the majority of children in the classroom," not on the skills possessed by each individual child in the classroom. In contrast, parent report of school readiness activities was at the individual level. Although parent and teacher report were matched at the classroom level, findings must be interpreted with caution. The present data is indirectly related and is specific to individual classrooms as opposed to individual students. Therefore, generalizability of the findings is limited.

Implications

As teachers begin the school year with initially meeting children, curriculum nights, open houses and other school activities, they can advocate hands-on activities and community events. As well, teachers can promote community events in their parent newsletters. Teachers can communicate with parents about the types of hands-on activities and community events they may feel benefit children's school adjustment.

The parent-teacher-child relationship is important to children's school success. Parents can benefit from this study by exploring the types of activities they engage in with their children and exploring other school readiness activities. Schools and teachers can promote school readiness by advocating parent-child activities that facilitate school readiness skills such as the hands-on activities, community activities, and sports and games. Community events that facilitate child development should be available to young families. Summer library programs and library story times can

incorporate activities that facilitate reading, singing and pre-literacy activities while promoting school readiness.

Classroom practices and curriculum should be guided by children's interest and curiosity. Preschool and childcare centers can benefit from this research by providing environments that stimulate children's curiosity and interest in learning in preparation for formal schooling. As well, teacher preparation and professional development could focus on exploring what engages children's natural interests and curiosity.

Finally, school readiness assessments need to be reassessed with caution. As teachers have reported numerous skills as *essential* for school success, entrance assessments should reflect the skills teachers believe are essential. Schools and teachers need to re-evaluate the validity and reliability of their school entrance assessments and how they use these tools.

Future Research Directions

The current study focuses on the relationship between parent report of parentchild activities, teacher report of skills students possess, and teacher report of skills essential for school success. Future research with longitudinal data would give more insight to the long-term effects of parent-child school readiness activities on children's school success. Further research is needed to determine which skills are most necessary for children's developmental success in transitioning into school.

The skill "shows curiosity and interest in learning" was reported by a large percentage of teachers as being an essential skill for school success. Teachers also reported the majority of their students possessed this skill. More research is needed

exploring school readiness and the relationship between students' interest and curiosity in learning and teachers' beliefs and reports on students' interest and learning.

This study also illuminates the effects community events may have on school readiness. Studies could be conducted further exploring the relationship between community events and school readiness skills. Some variables to further research as they relate to community events include social skills, sitting still, and stimulating curiosity and interest in learning.

Finally, the differences between parent report of activities and the teacher report of children's skills needs to be explored further. Research is needed to explore the possible reasons for why preschool parents report that they engage more frequently in hands-on activities than kindergarten parents. Importantly, data that allows for a match between teacher report and parent report for each individual child is warranted.

Conclusion

School readiness continues to be a complex concept. The information gathered from this study can benefit parents and teachers as they continue to mold their beliefs, ideas, and practices about school readiness and preparing children for school. This research can help give parents insight on teachers' views as well as give teachers insight on the activities parents engage in with their children. Community organizations can use the information gathered from this research to guide further efforts to promote school readiness. Children benefit when parents, teachers, and the community have a common understanding and definition of school readiness. These

findings can facilitate the ability to work together in helping children transition and adjust to the social, emotional and academic demands of beginning school.

REFERENCES

- Angenent, H., & deMan, A.F. (1989). Intelligence, gender, social maturity, and school readiness in Dutch first-graders. *Social Behavior and Personality*, *17*(2), 205-209.
- Barbarin, O., Bryant, D., McCandies, T., Burchinal, M., Early, D., Clifford, R., et al. (2006). Children enrolled in public pre-K: The relation of family life, neighborhood quality, and socioeconomic resources to early competence. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 76(2), 265-276.

Berk, L.E. (2006). Child Development. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

- Brooker, L. (2003). Learning how to learn: Parental ethnotheories and young children's preparation for school. *International Journal of Early Years Education*, 11(2), 117-128.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Developmental Psychology*, 22(6), 723-742.
- Carlton, M.P., & Winsler, A. (1999). School readiness: The need for a paradigm shift.*School Psychology Review*, 28(3), 338-352.
- Diamond, K.E., Reagan, A.J., & Bandyk, J.E. (2000). Parents' conceptions of kindergarten readiness: Relationships with race, ethnicity, and development. *Journal of Educational Research*, 94(2), 93-100.

- Duncan, G.J., Dowsett, C.J., Claessens, A., Magnuson, K., Huston, A. C., Klebanov,
 P., et al. (2007). School readiness and later achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 43(6), 1428-1446.
- Duncan, G.J., & Magnuson, K.A. (2005). Can family socioeconomic resources account for racial and ethnic test score gaps? *The Future of Children*, *15*(1), 35-54.
- Dworkin, P. H. (1993). Ready to learn: A mandate for pediatrics. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, *14*(3), 192-196.
- Galper, A., Wigfield, A., & Seefeldt, C. (1997). Head Start parents' beliefs about their children's abilities, task values, and performances on different activities. *Child Development*, 68(5), 897.
- Gormley, W.T., Gayer, T., Phillips, D., & Dawson, B. (2005). The effects of universal pre-k on cognitive development. *Developmental Psychology*, *41*(6), 872-884.
- Graue, M.E. (1992). Social interpretations of readiness for kindergarten. *Early ChildhoodResearch Quarterly*, 7(2), 225-243.
- Greenberg, M.T., Liuana, L.J., Cole, J.D, & Pinderhughes, E. (1999). Predicting developmental outcomes at school entry using a multiple-risk model: Four American communities. *Developmental Psychology*, 35, 403-417.
- Janus, M., & Duku, E. (2007). The school entry gap: Socioeconomic, family, and health factors associated with children's school readiness to learn. *Early Education and Development*, 18(3), 375-403.
- Johnson, L.J., Gallagher, R.J., Cook, M., & Wong, P. (1995). Critical skills for kindergarten: Perceptions from kindergarten teachers. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 19(4), 315-327.

- Johnson-Fedoruk, G. M. (1991). Student characteristics implicated in early school achievement: Kindergarten teacher validated. *Child Study Journal*, 21(4), 235-249.
- Kagan, S., Moore, E., & Bredekamp, S. (1995). *Reconsidering children's early development andlearning: Toward common views and vocabulary*. Washington, DC: National Education Goals Panel.
- Kessler, C.J. (2002). Parenting styles, parental school involvement beliefs, and parental activities: Influential factors in the development of kindergarten readiness.
 (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska, 2002). *Dissertation Abstract International, 63*, 860.
- Kim, J., Murdock, T., & Choi, D. (2005). Investigation of parents' beliefs about readiness for kindergarten: An examination of national household education survey (NHES: 93). *Educational Research Quarterly*, 29(2), 3.
- Lin, H., Lawrence, F.R., & Gorrell, J. (2003). Kindergarten teachers' views of children's readiness for school. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 18(2), 225-237.
- Lunenburg, F.C. (2000). Early childhood education programs can make a difference in academic, economic, and social arenas. *Education*, *120*(3), 519.
- Mashburn, A.J., & Henry, G.T. (2004). Assessing school readiness: Validity and bias in preschool and kindergarten teachers' ratings. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 23(4), 16-30.

- McAllister, C.L., Wilson, P.C., Green, B.L., & Baldwin, J.L. (2005). 'Come and take a walk': Listening to Early Head Start parents on school-readiness as a matter of child, family, and community health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(4), 617-625.
- McBryde, C., Ziviani, J., & Cuskelly, M. (2004). School readiness and factors that Influence decision making. *Occupational Therapy International*, *11*(4),193-208.
- McIntyre, L.L., Eckert, T.L., Fiese, B.H., DiGennaro, F.D., & Wildenger, L.K. (2007).
 Transition to kindergarten: Family experiences and involvement. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 35(1), 83.
- Maxwell, K.L., & Eller, S.K. (1994). Children's transition to kindergarten. *Young Children, 49*(6), 56-63.
- Meisels, S. (1999). Assessing reading. In R.C. Pianta & M.J. Cox (Eds.), *The transition to kindergarten* (pp.39-66). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co. National Commission on Excellence in Education. (1983). *A nation at risk*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- National Education Goals Panel. (1991). *The National Education Goals report*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- National Education Goals Panel. (1995). Reconsidering children's early development and learning: Toward shared beliefs and vocabulary. Washington, DC: National Education Goals Panel.
- Nunnally, J.C. (1978). *Psychometric theory* (2nd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Perez-Johnson, I., & Maynard, R. (2007). The case for early, targeted interventions to prevent academic failure. *Peabody Journal of Education*, 82(4), 587-616.

- Pianta, R.C. (1997). Adult-child relationship processes and early schooling. *Early Education and Development*, 8(1), 11-26.
- Pianta, R.C. & Stuhlman, M.W. (2004). Teacher-child relationships and children's success in the first year of school. *School Psychology Review*, 33(3), 444-458.
- Piotrkowski, C.S., Botsko, M., & Matthews, E. (2001). Parents' and teachers' beliefs about children's school readiness in a high-need community. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 15(4), 537-558.
- Raudenbush, S., & Bryk, A.S. (1986). A hierarchical model for studying school effects. Sociology of Education, 59(1), 1-17.
- Saluja, S., Scott-Little, C., & Clifford, R.M. (2000). Readiness for school: A survey of state policies and definitions. *Early Childhood Research & Practice*, 2(2) 1-18.
- Stipek, D., Milburn, S., Clements, D., & Daniels, D.H. (1992). Parents' beliefs about appropriate education for young children. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 13(3), 293-310.
- Swick, K.J., & Lovingood, S.D. (1981). Relationships between home support and reading readiness for kindergarten children. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 8(2), 83-86.
- Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (1996). *Using multivariate statistics* (3rd ed.). New York: Harper Collins
- Welch, M., & White, B. (1999). Teacher and parent expectations for kindergarten readiness. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED437225) Retrieved March 3, 2008, from ERIC database.

- West, J., National Center for Education Statistics (ED), Washington, DC., & And Others. (1993). *Readiness for kindergarten: Parent and teacher beliefs. statistics in brief*
- Willer, B., & Bredekamp, S. (1990). Redefining readiness: An essential requisite for educational reform. *Young Children*, 45(5), 22.
- Zill, N. (1999). Promoting educational equity and excellence in kindergarten. In R.C.Pianta & M.J. Cox (Eds.), *The transition to kindergarten* (pp.67-108). Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes Publishing Co.

APPENDIX A

School Readiness Questionnaire: Parents

Please circle the best answer to the following questions about your Pre-Kindergarten / Kindergarten / 1st grade child (i.e., the child whose teacher sent home this questionnaire).

A. Child Health and Activities

1.	Does your child have a regular physician?	Yes	No
2.	Does your child see his or her dentist every six months?	Yes	No
3.	Is your child covered by a health insurance plan?	Yes	No
4.	Is your child's immunization up to date?	Yes	No
5.	Does your child get annual eye check ups?	Yes	No
6.	Has your child's hearing been examined?	Yes	No
7.	Does your child have impaired hearing?	Yes	No
8.	Does your child have difficulty speaking or being understood?	Yes	No
9.	Does your child get physical activity regularly?	Yes	No
10.	Does your child get enough sleep at night?	Yes	No
11.	Is your child often tired?	Yes	No
12.	Does your child have a nutritious breakfast most of the time?	Yes	No
13.	Does your child have a nutritious dinner most of the time?	Yes	No
14.	Does your child have all the proper school supplies?	Yes	No
15.	Overall, how healthy is your child? (circle one)		

Very healthy	Healthy	Somewhat Unhealthy	Very Unhealthy

During a typical week, how often does someone in your home do each of the following? (circle

one)

16. Read to your child	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times
17. Sing with your child	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times

18. Do art activities with your child	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
19. Help your child do chores	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
20. Play board games or card games with your child								
	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
21. Talk about nature with your child	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
22. Build things with your child	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
23. Play sports with your child	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
24. Watch television, videos, or DVD's	with your	child						
	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
During the last month, how often has yo	our child de	one each of th	e following?(c	ircle one)				
25. Attended a play, concert, or other live show								
	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
26. Visited an art gallery, museum, or h	istorical si	te						
	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
27. Gone to a zoo, aquarium, or petting	farm							
	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
28. Attended a sporting event	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
29. Attended a church or religious even	t							
	Never	1-3 times	4-6 times	7 or more times				
B. Household Information								
30. How many children live in your hor	me?	_						
31. What are the ages of the children liv	ving in you	r home?						

32. How many adults live in your home? _____

33. What is the relationship of the adults in your home to the children in your home? (*circle all that apply*) Mother Father Step-parent Grandmother Grandfather Aunt Uncle Guardian Other:

34.	What is your marita	al status?			
35.	What is your yearly	household income? (ci	rcle one)		
	Less than \$5,000	\$5,000- \$10,999	\$11,000- \$15,	999	\$16,000-\$20,999
	\$21,000-\$25,999	\$26,000-\$30,999	\$31,000-\$35,9	999	\$36,000-\$40,999
	\$41,000-\$49,999	\$50,000-\$59,999	\$60,000-\$74,9	999	\$75,000-\$99,999
	\$100,000-\$250,000	Over \$250,000)		
36.	Do you receive TA	NF assistance?		Yes	No
37.	Do you receive DH	S subsidy for child care	?	Yes	No
38.	Do you receive any your employer or yo	Yes	No		
39.	Did your child parti		Yes	No	
40.	Did your child parti	cipate in Sooner Care?		Yes	No
41.	Do you have a work	king telephone in your h	ome?	Yes	No
42.	Do you have a comp	puter in your home?		Yes	No
43.	Do you have interne	et access in your home?		Yes	No
44.	Do you have cable	television in your home	?	Yes	No
45.	Do you have a subs	cription to the local new	vspaper?	Yes	No
46.	How many cars do	you have at your home?	·		

 47. Before your child started school, where did they receive child care? (circle all that apply)

 Head Start
 Faith-based child care

 Family Child Care
 Private Child Care

 Home Relative Care

C. Parenting Programs

48. Have you ever been or are you now involved in a parenting program?

Yes No

49. If you answered yes to Question 48, how helpful was/is the parenting program?

Not very helpful Somewhat helpful Very helpful

50. What kinds of parenting programs have you participated in? (circle all that apply)

Oklahoma Parents as Teachers Even Start Raising a Reader

Healthy Families Parenting classes at churches Family Resource Center

51. If you could be part of a parenting support group, what would you hope to gain from participation in that group? What questions might you ask?

APPENDIX B

Student Readiness Questionnaire: Teacher

Children's Skills, Abilities, & Experiences

Ple of 1	wase answer the the named skit 1 = The $2 = The3 = The4 = The5 = The$	<i>he follow</i> <i>ill, ability</i> e skill ha e skill ha e skill is e skill is e skill is	<i>ying questions by</i> <i>y, or experience of</i> <i>s</i> no importance <i>s</i> little importance moderately impo very important for essential for child	circling the corres on the scale from 1 for children's deve e for children's dev rtant for children's or children's develo dren's developmen	<i>ponding</i> <i>to 5 acco</i> lopmenta velopmenta develop opmental tal succe	Yes or N ording to al success ntal succe mental su success. ss.	lo. Then, a the follo s. ess. uccess.	rate the i wing defi	mportance initions:
1.	Do the majo Yes	ority of tl /	he children enteri No	ing your classroom Importance:	listen an 1	nd pay att 2	tention? 3	4	5
2.	Do the majo skills?	ority of t	he children enteri	ing your classroom	have go	od langu	age and c	ommunio	cation
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
3.	Do the majo (i.e., has bee	ority of the original tendence of the original sector of the origina	he children enteri , likes books)	ing your classroom	show po	ositive pr	ior readin	ig experie	ences?
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Are the maj	ority of	the children enter	ring your classroon	n toilet tr	ained?			
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Do the majo	ority of t	he children enteri	ing your classroom	follow d	lirections	and instr	ructions?	5
	168	/	INO	importance.	1	2	3	4	5
6.	Do the majo turns)	ority of t	he children enteri	ing your classroom	have go	od social	skills? (i	.e., share	es, takes
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
7	Can the ma	iority of	the children enter	ring your classroor	n sit still!)			
7.	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1 sit suit	2	3	4	5
				Ĩ					
8.	Do the majo (i.e., knows	ority of the colors, a	he children enteri ddress, phone nu	ing your classroom mber)	possess	basic kn	owledge?		
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Do the majo	ority of t	he children enteri	ing your classroom	separate	easily fr	om their	parents o	or
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Do the majo	ority of t	he children enteri	ing your classroom	exhibit f	ine moto	or skills?	(i.e., cutt	ing,
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
	D 1								
11.	Do the majo	ority of t	he children enteri	ing your classroom	show cu	riosity an 2	nd an inte	erest in le	arning?
	105	/	110	mportance.	1	4	5	+	5

12. Can the majority of the children entering your classroom care for, or assist in caring for, themselves? (i.e., dress self, take care of own belongings)

	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5	
13. 4	Are the ma	ajority c	of the children	entering your classroon	n physic	ally healt	hy?			
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5	
14. A	are the maj	jority of	f the children e	ntering your classroom	develoj	pmentally	mature?			
	Yes	/	No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5	
15. E	Oo the maje children?	ority of	the children er	ntering your classroom	show sig	gns of pro	evious ex	periences	s with oth	er

1es / NO IIIpoltance. 1 2 5 4	Yes	/ No	Importance:	1	2	3	4	5
-------------------------------	-----	------	-------------	---	---	---	---	---

VITA

Kathleen M. Moore

Candidate for the Degree of

Master of Science or Arts

Thesis: SCHOOL READINESS: PARENT-CHILD ACTIVITIES, TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS, AND STUDENTS' SKILLS

Major Field: Human Development and Family Science

Biographical:

- Personal Data: Born in Zeeland Michigan, on August 11, 1978, the daughter of Doug and Linda Sluiter
- Education: Graduated from Zeeland High School, Zeeland, Michigan in June of 1996; received Bachelor of Science degree in Elementary Education and Early Childhood Education in December, 2002. Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Human Development and Family Science at Oklahoma State University, Tulsa, Oklahoma in May, 2008.
- Experience: Taught Kindergarten in Botswana, Africa as a missionary in 1996 and 1997; employed by Union Public Schools as a teacher from 2002 to 2006. Volunteer with church and community of Tulsa 1998 to present.